Delphi

At the navel of the earth

Once upon a time the myth goes, Zeus dispatched two eagles from the ends of universe
and entfrusted them with finding the centre of the world, and they Meet above Delphi, the
‘navel of the Earth’, as it came to be called, a spiritual and Religious centre and symbol of
the unity of ancient Greece. Geography does not suffice to describe the feelings of
serenity and awe-inspiring majesty emanated by the landscape. The so-called Delphic
landscape surpasses our mere mortal descriptions. Delphi, which has been included on
the UNESCO World Heritage List and has been designated one of the ‘holy places’ of the
world, forms part of the Prefecture of Phoecis and has a population roughly numbering
2,500 residents. The former village that used to exist on the site, dafing bak to medieval
fimes was named Kastri, and was built right above the buried archaeological site.
However, when the first systematic excavations of the site commenced in 1892 under the
French Archaeological School of Athens, most of the property and homes of its residents
were demolished and relocated a few hundred metres to the west, concurrently
renaming the old village of Kastri to Delphi. Impressive findings were discovered during the
excavations, among which about 3,000 inscriptions, which give us insights info various
ospec’rs of onaen’r civic life.
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The archaeological site and museum of Delphi

The main reason that Delphi constitutes a magnet which attracts tourists and a plethora of
visitors from all around the world is the Pan-Hellenic Holy Oracle of Apollo, the most
renowned in the ancient Greek world. According fo the archaeological evidence, the
area of Delphi first began constituting a holy site around the 8th century BC, while the first
tfemples dedicated to Apollo and Athena were built during the lafe 7th century BC. Pythia
was the resident priestess at the Temple of Apollo, and had to be from Delphi. She used to
enter info a trance and, in her ecstatic state, would pronounce the oracles of the god to
the interested party, in a manner that was always laconic, cryptic and inscrutable. Before
pronouncing her oracles, Pythia would bathe and drink water from the Castallian spring,
chew on laurel leaves and sit on a three-legged stool. Trance-inducing fumes would
emanate from the basis of the fripod, by burning various hallucinogenic herbs
impregnated in methane, which led Pythia to pronounce incoherent cries and
experience visions. The priests of the oracle would translate those incoherent words into
rhymed but ambivalent oracles. The most famous oracle was the one pronounced to



Oedipus, to whom Pythia had told that he would murder his father and wed his mother, a
fate which he vainly aftempted fo escape. The oracular ambassadors (known as
‘theopropos’) would pay a tax before being able fo consult the oracle, and would
sacrifice a goat at the shrine of Apollo, a fact which attests to the accumulation of
offerings and wealth, as every city, even foreign rulers, would request the advice of the
god, paying the requisite price. Indeed, that wealth often sparked jealousy and triggered
expansionist designs, which
led to the four Sacred Wars,
the primary cause of which
was the desire to control the
oracle.

The shrine of  Apollo
managed to reftain ifs
prestige and power for
more than 600 years, but it
finally bowed down before
the rationalist school of
philosophy during the 3rd
century BC, which adversely
impacted on the operation
of the oracle. However, the
ritual order followed during
its ceremonies will remain
unchanged up to the 2nd
century AD and the rule of
the Emperor Hadrian, who will exert efforts to financially boost and ‘revive’ the power and
reputation of the oracle, but to no avail. The definitive closure of the oracle takes place in
394 AD, upon an edict issued by the Byzantine Emperor Theodosius the First. Subsequently,
with the establishment of Christianity, Delphi became the seat of a bishopric, but it was
abandoned in the early 7th century AD, during the period of the Slav incursions.

The Castallian spring or, to be precise, fountain, in which, as already mentioned, Pythia
m Wwould bathe prior
fo pronouncing her
oracles, played a
decisive role in the
operation of the
oracle. The priests
and atftendants of
the temple, as well
as fthe visitors which
would flock fo ifs
grounds to consult
the oracle, were required to bo‘rhe in its purifying waters, which they also used for
cleaning the temple of Apollo. That fountain was located between the temple of Apollo
and the ancient gymnasium, where it sfill stands foday. However, the source of its waters
sprang from the Fedriadon gorge, at the promontory of the rock today referred to as
‘Flemboukos’. Upon enfering the archaeological site, the first vestiges of buildings that
one encounfer belong to the Temple of Athena Pronaos. The ruins of an older temple of
Athena, which was built during the 7th century BC and rebuilt in the éth cenfury have
been preserved to the east, while the remains of two shrines can be seen adjacent fo it.
Two small treasures of the éth cenfury BC are also found in the temple, of which one was
built by the residents of Marseilles in honour of the Goddess. The treasures were small
structures shaped like temples, built by city-states to house their votive offerings. Perhaps
the landmark monument of the site, which dominates the temple of Athena Pronaos is the
Tholos, one of the most photographed monuments of Greece. It was built during the early
4 century BC from Pentelic marble and featured twenty columns in the Doric order.
However, earthquakes and landslides occurring up to one hundred years ago have led to
only three of those columns sfill standing today.
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At a distance of 300 metres from the west entrance to the temple of Athena Pronaos, on
a steep incline of the ground which is found at that point, there lie the ruins of the Delphi
gymnasium, one of the most complete complexes of antiquity, which included the
gymnasium, palaestra (wrestling ground) and thermal spring facilities. The athletes who
had trained in the gymnasium and the palaestra would show off the results of their efforts
in the stadium, which had a capacity of 5,000 spectators, where the athletic events were
held during the Pythian Games. Its original spatial arangement dates to the 5th century
BC and spectators inifially sat on the ground or on wooden benches. It did not feature
stone seats until the 2nd century AD, which also marked the erection of the monumental
arched friumphal entrance, which is unique among ancient Greek stadiums. Apart from
the stadium, the archaeological site of Delphi also included a theatre, also of a capacity
of 5,000 spectators, where the singing and musical insfrument competitions fook place in
the framework of the Pythian Games and other religious festivals and rituals. The
importance aftributed to these events endows the monument with a spiritual and artistic
value of equivalent magnitude to the athletic ideal embodied by the ancient stadium of
Olympia. The form of the first theatre to have been built at the site is not known.
Spectators possibly sat on wooden seats or on the ground. The first stone theatre was built
later, during the 4th century BC, followed by many upkeep interventions. It first adopted its
current form during the early Roman era, namely in 160 BC, with ifs stone-paved
orchestra, stone seats and stage (proscenium).

The Delphi museum is situated adjacent to the archaeological site, exhibiting artefacts of
high artistic value which were discovered during the excavations. Although their number
at first appears impressive, it must be mentioned that they only represent a small minority
of what has remained of the multitude of buildings, votive temples and 3,000 stafues lining
the Holy Way (‘lera Odos’) leading to the temple of Apollo. It was built by the French
Archaeological School with funding by the Greek State and with the support of national
benefactor Andreas Syggros. A tour around the exhibition halls of the two-storey museum,
spanning a fofal area of 2,270 sg.m., will reveal the rich mosaic of the Delphic temple’s
history. Even prior to entering the main hall of the museum, while still on the small path
leading up to if, one comes across findings and early-Christian mosaics, some of which
have been preserved almost infact, which prepare the visitor for the plethora of exhibits
on display in the museum itself. Among the exhibits, which indicatively include helmets,
jewellery items, daily utensils of the period, the fripod used by Pythia, the fall column
adorned with the three dancers, the Sphinx of Naxos occupies pride of place. It was
dedicated by the Naxians in the mid-6th century BC and has the face of a woman and
the body of a winged dog, majestically guarding the museum grounds. Moreover, the
twin statues of the Argos Kouroi (young men), carved by the sculptor Polimedes of Argos,
which were discovered in an excellent state of conservation and constitute precursor-
examples of the early Archaic order, either depict the Argos brothers Vitonas and Cleovy,
or the Dioskouri, who were worshipped by the Peloponnesians. And of course there is the
Charioteer, the prime protagonist of the museum, which has dedicated an entire hall
exclusively fo him. The bronze statue was discovered in Delphi and initially formed part of
a larger complex, which depicted a chariot drawn by four horses, of which only a few
sections remain. It measures 1.80 m in height and is comprised of six different sections. The
emblematic eyes of the statue, which are made of onyx, are stunning and immediately
capftivate the visitor, giving the impression that the Charioteer is observing every



movement around it. Finally, the Treasure of the Sifnians also constitutes a very significant
exhibit. It was also a giff fo Delphi from the residents of Sifnos, the most prosperous island
of the time due fo the immense profits it reaped from operating the gold and silver mines
on its soil. They decided, therefore, to donate a tenth of their profits to Apollo, whereupon
they set about building the treasure. It is a structure of small dimensions, in the form of a
little temple, for the construction of which the Sifnians fransported expensive white marble
from Paros, adorned with ornate sculpted embellishments and ready to house the
precious votive offerings periodically offered by the Sifnians to the temple of the god.
Today, only the foundations and an ankle from the sculpted decoration of the base
remain in place. All of the building’'s preserved sculpted decoration has undergone
restoration and is currently on exhibition in the museum.

Modern Delphi

During recent fimes, the area of Delphi has been connected to the efforts to revive the
Delphic Idea by the poet Angelos Sikelianos and his wife Eva Palmer-Sikelianos. The
cornerstone of this effort was the ambitious idea of the couple to reinstate Delphi as the
spirifual cenfre not only of Greece, but of the entire civilised world. After all, they firmly
believed that the classical ideal was capable of contributing to the moral uplifting and
spirifual regeneration of people, who felt a deep-rooted disenchantment following the
collapse of human values brought on by the First World War. In order to make their vision
come frue, they even proceeded with the organisation of the well-known Delphic
Festfivals, which were held in 1927 and 1930. However, despite the great acclaim of the
festivities and the initial enthusiasm with which they were greeted by many intellectuals,
the effort of Sikelianos was abandoned, because it was deemed to be an ambitious vision
which was not compatible with the given social reality of the time. During the organisatfion
and holding of these two festivals, the Sikelianos couple stayed in a house, which was built
by local craftsmen shortly before 1927, with a panoramic view to Parnassus, the village of
Delphi and the valley of Amfissa. The stone-built dwelling has been operatfing as a
museum since 1991, namely as the Delphic Festivals Museum. There, one can find
manuscripts  of Sikelianos, correspond dence regarding the Delphic Fesfivals,
photographic archives of the famous photographer Nelly’'s (the exclusive photographer
of the events), as well as theatrical costumes from the plays woven by Eva on her loom,
which is on display on the ground floor. The entire building is owned by the European
Cultural Centre of Delphi. The European Cultural Centre of Delphi was founded in 1977 as
a legal entity operating under private law, supervised by the Ministry of Culfure and under
the auspices of the Council of Europe, with the aim of “fostering cultural ties uniting the
people of Europe.” The conference facilities of the Centre include two main conference
halls, the'K. Karamanlis’ amphitheatre and ‘Dionysus’ hall, ancillary rooms, an exhibition
arealibrary, as well as a guest house and an open-air theatre. The International
Conferences on Ancient Greek Drama number among its permanent events. They were
inaugurated in 1984 and have been held every two years as of 1995. Moreover, the
Cenftre is also involved in the implementation of an infernational visual arts agenda, which
encompasses exhibitions, seminars and work-placement programmes for arfists in Delphi.
The Sculpture Park surrounding the main building began operating in 1994, during
the internatfional sculpture conference and, since then, it is constantly being enriched with
the works of Greek and international sculptors.

The Delphic Festivals Museum, as well as the European Cultural Centre of Delphi, rank
among the modern places of interest of the town of Delphi, which is well-organ ised and
equipped with all up-to-date tourist amenities and, of course, is ready fo safisfy the needs
of all categories of fourists, who visit the town throughout the year. The tfown is a good
base from which you can explore nearby Arachova and the Ski centres of Parnassos or
the beaches of the Corinthian Gulf. The town of Delphi does not complacently rely on its
archaeological site, and organises a diverse array of musical and theatrical shows every
summer, affracting constantly growing numbers of tourists. It also has the unique
advantage, atf least to those heading here from Athens, of being located at a very short
distance (180 kilometres) from Athens and being reached via a comfortable and safe
road network. In any event, even if by visiting the fown today we do not come away with
an oracle for our future, we will however experience an idyllic yeardong destination,



ideally suited for an escape from the harsh pace of everyday town life and for relaxing
whilst experiencing the rejuvenating aura emanated by the a n cientf holy oracle...

The tKorikio Androi Cave

Turning left at Livadi and upon reaching the Achladokampos location, follow a very small
sign (pointing you in the direction of the ‘Andro’), which will lead you to the right through
a drivable dirt frack. The track ascends the mountain in the direction of the ‘Korikio Andro’
cave and ends at a small level stretch, where cars park and manoeuvre. From there,
carved steps lead one up the rise and to the entrance of the ‘Korikio Andro’ cave
(meaning ‘Korikio Lair’ in Greek), which is hidden from view until one arrives right in front of
its opening at the end of the path, at a 1,400 m. alfitude. The ‘Korikio Andro’ is renowned,
not only in connection to its rich mythological lore, but also in connection to the world of

antiquity and ancient writers. “It is the most spectacular of all the caves | have seen”,
writes Pausanias, who visited it during the 1st century AD. There is a mulfitude of diverse
and incredible information surrounding the question of how this ancient cave came fo
acquire the name it has today. Pausanias, in his ‘On Phoecis', mentions that it derived its
name from the nymph Korikia who was seduced by Apollo and gave birth fo Likorias.
Apollodorus of Athens, in a different work, argues that it derived its name from the nymph
Korikia, who gave birth to a son, Korikas. Others claim that it was named after its stalactites
which, in the way that they hang from its ceiling, resemble sports saddle bags (‘korikas’ in
Greek). The fruth is that the thick stalactites hanging from its ceiling and which are
reminiscent of ‘korikes’ (leather saddle bag, hand-woven bag, dilly bag or basket), drip
and frickle down, forming sculpfures which are mystically lit through the friangular
opening, while all rocks shine resplendently. If one stands at the opening and,
accustomed to the bright outdoor light, looks towards the pitch darkness, he will feel the
chiling fresh air of its inferior and he will be overcome by an unfathomable awe, as he
listens to the monotonous noise made by the thick droplets of water. The cave, which
exceeds 90 mefres in length, was named ‘Sarantavli’ by the locals (meaning forty
bagpipes in Greek), because it was said that, due to its unique acoustics, whenever they
played the tfraditional local bagpipe the music seemed to echo the sound throughout ifs
cavity at least forty times. An adaptation of the myth refers to ‘saranta avles’ (meaning
forty gardens in Greek), namely referring to the total of forty chambers of the cave. During
the 5th cenfury BC, the Greeks worshipped the Nymphs and the forestgod Pan in this
seminally important place of worship of the Hellenic world. Aeschylus even mentions it as
a resting-place of birds and a site visited by godly spirits. With the passage of time, and
passing from legend to realism, the residents used the cave as a refuge, both during the
Persian invasion and much later, during Oftoman rule. The cave was explored and
excavated by P. Amandry in 1970-71 and thousands of artefacts dating to the archaic
and classical periods have come tfo light. Among them, there are thousands of clay
shards from pottery items or statuettes dating to the late Neolithic era, 25,000 animal ankle
bones, lanterns, painted poftery of the 6th century BC and rings. Some of the findings are
exhibited af the archaeological museum of Delphi.



Galaxidi

The naval state

Galaxidi is a coastal setflement endowed with a rich history and tradition, which preserve
the aura of ifs illustrious and prosperous past. At the same fime, the provincial coastal
town numbering 1,700 residents has kept abreast of modern developments. It has
undergone a facelift and has made a dynamic entry intfo the tourist map of the region,
both as a summer resort with beautiful serene beaches, and as constituting an alternative
destination during the winter season. The first recorded references of the name ‘Galaxidi’
date to the period between the éth and 9th centuries AD, and the most probable
explanation for its origins is that it derived from a certain local Byzantine ruler by the name
of Galaxidis, who rebuilt the deserted town that used fo stand at the site of the current
provincial town. However, the history of Galaxidi had commenced a good many
centuries earlier, a fact which is corroborated by the vestiges of the ancient fortification
wall, which used fo enclose and safeguard the fown, lining its coastal avenue. During the
Byzantine period, Galaxidi and its residents will undergo quite a few misadventures, with
constantly alternating conquerors, ending in 1446, when it joined the fate of the rest of
Greece, becoming subjected to Oftoman rule. Even under the Turkish yoke, Galaxidi
manages to acquire certain privileges from the Offomans and begins to flourish,
especially in the sector of marine trade, ultimately becoming one of the most frequented
Greek harbours by the 18th century. The Revolution of 1821 naturally will disrupt the
prosperity of the naval town. Many of the marine vessels that had been assigned to the
cause of the Struggle were destroyed, while the city also suffers the same fate. After the
Revolution, the town is rebuilt and Galaxidi embarks on a golden age. The local economy
adapts exclusively to marine trade, the fown'’s shipyards work at a feverish pace and the
sea captains of Galaxidi ‘conquer’ all the major ports of Europe. The heyday of the town is
reflected not only in the living standard enjoyed by its residents, but predominantly in the
way of life thereafter adopted by the well-travelled seamen and their families. The wealth
that they amass is not used for purposes of ostentation, but as a means for fostering the
town’s cultural revival. However, the advent of the twentieth century is not as favourable
to the town. Ocean-going sailing vessels lose their pride of place and are replaced by
sfeam vessels which make a dynamic enftry into international marine trading, with grave
adverse repercussions for the naval economy of Galaxidi. One after the other, the
shipyards which used to compete with their counterparts in Europe start shufting down,
the well-fravelled marine vessels drop anchor and the inhabitants seek their fortune by
emigrafing fo new homelands. The wars and the dramatic developments ravaging the
globe will lend the final blow to the already languishing town. Today, the image of the
town of Galaxidi is totally different. Nearly nothing has remained to remind one of those
harsh fimes, perhaps with the exception of a fleeting atmosphere of melancholy which,
however, lends it great charm. Galaxidi has been designated a listed fraditional
setflement and, as you will ascertain by taking a short stroll through its narrow paved
alleys, the town is reminiscent of a set from a period film. The characteristic manors of its
historic naval families and the imposing villas with their elegant crests and pretty pebbled
courtyards remain almost unfouched by the passage of time. Many of them are open to
visitors, while others have been converted to guest houses, offering visitors the opportunity
to travel, albeit imaginatively, to the era of the town’s prosperity. Continuing uphill to the
tallest point of the town, atop one of the two hills on which Galaxidi has been built, you
will come across the church of Saint Nicholas, guardian of seamen and patron saint of the
town, which is visible from almost everywhere in the town, emphasizing, in his turn, the
indelible relationship of the residents of Galaxidi with seafaring. The current form of the
church, with three naves in the Byzantine order, two bell towers and a dome, was
completedin 1902.



A significant number of movable religious icons have been preserved in its inferior, dating
to the 19th cenfury, as well as many votive offerings brought by locals fo pay homage to
the Saint. The real jewel of the church though is ifs renowned iconostasis, a veritable
masterpiece of wood-carving art of the 19th cenfury. Its wall murals depict scenes and
acts from the Old and New Testament and belongs to the Baroque school of art. The
other parish church of the town, dedicated to Saint Paraskevi, which is also the oldest, is of
comparable interest. In addition to its old icons and wood-carved iconostasis dating to
1847, here you will have the opportunity to see and admire a unique work of art, which is
to be found on the church floor. In 1911, the seacaptain and astronomy-adept Elias
Skourtis carved the zodiac cycle on ifs stone slabs, with the twelve months of the year and
the symbols for each zodiac sign, creafing a sun calendar exhibiting a high level of
accuracy and craftsmanship. As a result, every day at 12 noon a shaft of light enters the
church through a roundshaped opening in the roof and falls on the respective calendar
marking on the sun calendar. Moreover, there is a sundial af the external section of the
main enfrance, where the shade of a metallic cable points to the time on the numbered
slab. Both are impressive, as long as it's sunny!

Confinuing your walk through the picturesque town of Galaxidi, head towards its
commercial centre, which is situated along the main port of the fown. This section attracts
the majority of fourists, as dozens of ‘tavernas’ specialising in sea-food, restaurants and
cafés line its coastal avenue. However, before or after savouring a cup of coffee and a
meal, it is worthwhile extending your walk to reach the site of '‘Pera Panta’, the pine-
wooded park that was created in 1929, from where you can enjoy a panoramic view of
the town.

The other natural harbour of Galaxidi, ‘Hirolakas’, is located to the rear of the commercial
cenfre and is just as beautiful, but quieter and more serene compared to ifs bustling
counterpart. The large anchor and the marble statue of the captain stand out at the
main square of Hirolakas while, if you continue to the end of the road, you will come
across the last remaining boat-yard in the town. Galaxidi, thanks fo the love and care
lavishly provided by its residents, has managed to retain its distinctive colour and pristine
charm unaltered, even during recent years which have seen a greaf rise in fourism. Most
establishments offering accommodation are housed in old, converted manors, have
been lovingly and fastefully renovated, offering modern amenities to visitors whilst, as
regards dining, most local ‘tavernas’ are of good quality, so you need not hesitate i n
trusting them to serve you the town’s local specialfies.

The custom of éalevromountzouromaj (flour-fights)

Each year, the parties at Carnival time in Galaxidi climax with the celebrations marking
Ash Monday, during which all Greeks traditionally venture into the countryside (referred to
as the ‘Koulouma’). Specifically, at lunch time after the fraditional meal and parade of
floats, all the residents of Galaxidi gather in the commercial centre (‘Agora’), equipped
with bags containing flour and soot. The signal

is given and the flour-fight begins!

Galaxidi Naval and Historical Museum

The Naval Museum of Galaxidi was founded in 1928 and it was the first naval museum fo
have been established in Greece. It is housed in a building dated to 1870, which used to
operate as a Girls’ School, while it was later also used as a Town Hall. Its two large



exhibition halls house a collection of objects related to marine frading, among which are
paintings depicting sailing vessels, figureheads, sectfions of marine vessels, nautical
insfruments, ships’ logs, weapons belonging to resistance fighters of the 1821 War of
Independence, as well as the crew registers of the vessels sailing from Galaxid’s harbour. It
also features the significant collections of works of two well-known painters from Galaxidi:
Spiros Vasileiou and Petros Patrantzas. Moreover, following its recent renovation the
Museum also houses a small archaeological collection, which brings together findings that
came to light following systematic excavations or, frequently, even chance discoveries,
roughly numbering 300 exhibits, among which are amphorae, funerary stele and coins.
Tel: 2265041795, 2265041558, open daily: 08:30 - 15:00.

Arachova

Catering to all tastes

Since infroductions are clearly unnecessary when referring to the most popular winter
destination in the country, let us begin by approaching it from a geographical
perspective. Arachova is a picturesque provincial town in the Prefecture of Boeotiq,
numbering 4,000 residents, built on the south slopes of Parnassos Mountain, at an altitude
of 950 m and af a distance of 160 km from Athens. It is accessible via the Thebes-Livadio-
Delphi Nafional Road and disposes of a well-planned and safe road network. On the
ofher hand, for those travelling here from Northern Greece, furn right at the exit of the
Nafional Road (15 km after passing Lamia) tfowards Bralo and Amfissa, and at the 25th km
take a left turn towards Gravia, following the signs fowards Arachova and Parnassos. For
the greater part of the year, Arachova is predominantly sunny and the clarity of the
atmosphere is secured not only when there is a north-west wind (known to the locals as
‘Vlachiofis’), but also on days with sunshine when, during warm hours the winds blow from
the valley towards the slopes, known as the valley breezes, and, during cold hours, winds
descend from the heights of Parnassos (mountain breezes). The local north-east wind
(known to the locals as ‘Katevatos’) also has a beneficial effect. It originates in the north-
eastern slopes of Parnassos, while ifs gusts sweeping through Arachova have specifically
descended from the Baidanorachi pecak (af an alfitude of 2,180 m). The climate of
Arachova is dry in summer, with a drop in temperature during night hours, especially at
Livadi, while in winter the weather is predominantly cold, with intense rainfall and snowfall.
The National Observatory of Athens has installed a weather station in Arachova, from
which one can access meteorological data and weather forecasts online.
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The history of Arachova has its roots in two towns dating to the pre-Homeric era, namely
Kiparissos to the east at the Pania location and Anemoria to the west at the Trouvoulou
location. The Cretans maintained a colony here, while the Thracians setftled in the region
too, about 3,200 years ago, bringing with them the worship of Dionysus and the Muses.

The region of Arachova also displayed habitation during the Byzantine period, remnants
of which include the early-Christian settlement at the Pania location (4th-7th century AD),
which is demarcated by the boundaries of its three single-nave churches. The above
location displays uninterrupted habitation until the middle Byzantine period (10th-11th
century AD), whereupon its inhabitants moved to the site of the present-day settlement.
During the post-Byzantine period, in 1435 historical records refer to it as “a densely
inhabited fown"” while in 1728, following a great heyday it had experienced during the
16th century, it is cited as “the most renowned tfown of Parnassos”.



During the years of the Revolution, the residents of Arachova were among the first in
Mainland Greece to rise up against the Turks in 1821, while the victory won by Georgios
Karaiskakis across the church of Saint George in 1826, with only 300 men against a 2,000-
stfrong force under Mustapha Bei made up of Turks and Albanians, has passed into
legend. The unexpected, if one compares the numbers on each side, buf also so
important victory won by the Greek fighters, was attributed fo the decisive intervention of
Saint George, which is why Karaiskakis dedicated one of the cannons they took as bounty
to him. In 1870, a major earthquake ravaged the area, and the eastern district of
Koukouras was totally destroyed, as were numerous houses throughout Arachova which
was, however, rebuilt by local craftsmen. Certain picturesque quarters still remain in Upper
Arachova (‘Ano Arachova’), in the vicinity of the church of Saint George, and in Lower
Arachova (‘Kato Arachova’) towards the Aphano and Ritsa locations, while aftractive
fraditional dwellings with inner courtyards (known as ‘hagiati’, a traditional feature of local
architecture) and four-tier roofs specially constructed in order to be able to withstand
heavy winters, can also be seen on either side of the main road. You will be able to
ascertain how the locals earn their livelihood at first glance. Woven textiles, dairy
products, ‘tavernas’, coffee shops, hotels and ski rental stores comprise the vast majority
of businesses that operate in Arachova, all based on tourism. The locals, which were
always industrious and hard-working, ensured that they cultivated premium-quality
agricultural and livestock farming products in their lands while, during the 1960’s, the
famous dry wine produced locally which was sold all the way down to Venice, its olive
groves, honey, woven fextiles and livestock farming provided the main source of income
for Arachova residents.

At a later date, once the ski resort opened its gates, well-known Athenians opened stores
and coffee shops, bringing with them all the ‘fashionable’ crowd to the village, which
became and remains to this date the most ‘in’ spot in the area. The vineyards, the ones
which survived the downward spiral hitting viticulture and the growth of tourism, preserve
their reputation of yielding good-quality dry Arachova wine, and its olive groves continue
to yield premium-quality olive oil. The forays of tourists to the ski resorts are almost always
accompanied by the purchase of traditional dairy products which are still locally
produced, such as the celebrated Parnassos feta cheese variety, its yoghurt, ‘mizithra’
(soft white cheese), traditional dried pasta products such as ‘hilopites’ (small square-
shaped pieces of pasta made from durum wheat) and ‘trahanas’ (powdered pasta
made from durum wheat and fresh pasteurized milk), as well as its unique ‘opsimofir’
cheese, which all merchants proclaim have been produced from animals grazing on
aromatic herbs on the mountain valleys of Parnassos. However, the product which stands
out above dll the rest is the renowned and veritably delicious ‘formaela’, the traditional
cheese of Arachova which ripens in small baskets, is exclusively produced in Arachova
and has been designafted by the European Union as an appellation of origin product,
registered as ‘Arachova Formaela Parnassou’.

What you should see

Apart from partying info early morning hours, purchasing local products, skiing,
experiencing a fashionable lifestyle and good food, Arachova also has plenty to offer to
the traveller in quest of sites of interest, monuments, beautiful scenery and locations. The
‘hour rock’ standing atf the entrance to the setflement undergoes the daily raids of avid
photographic lenses, since the remofte ivy-covered rock and the clocktower make up an
idyllic picture. The locals frequently refer to it as the ‘Bell Tower’, but don't go looking for
any bells, they have ceased to exist from as early as the major earthquake of 1870. The
church of the Presentation of the Holy Virgin to the Temple (‘Esodion tis Theotokou’) and
the former primary school, built in 1910 through a donation of Andreas Syggros, which has
today been restored and converted intfo a folk art museum, lies adjacent to the rock. The
church of the Presentation of the Holy Virgin to the Temple is only one among the 35
churches of Arachova, the best known of which is that of Saint George, which is built high
up. at one of the most beautiful locations of the lage, impressing ifs visitors with its ancient
marbles and expansive courtyard. One reaches the church by ascending the 264 steps
beginning af the cenfre of the tfown and ending in the courtyard of the church, where
one also finds the monument with the cannon-spaoil of war from the historic battle waged
between Karaiskakis and Mustapha Bei. The bust of Karaiskakis has been placed at the



west exit of Arachova, in order to pay fribute to the war hero and his glorious victory. It has
been placed af a site with an outstanding view to the valley of the Delphic landscape.

The iMini-Festivali of Saint George

Tourists who happen to be in Arachova on April 23rd or on the second day of Easter (if
April 23rd coincides before Easter) will have the chance to enjoy a fraditional local
festivity, which follows a ritual which has remained untfouched by the passage of time, the
so-called ‘Mini-Festival’. It is held on Saint George’s Feast Day and concurrently celebrates
the glorious victory achieved by Karaiskakis against Mustapha Bei, which residents
consider the most crucially significant juncture in their town'’s history. The festivities are held
over a three-day period and include many events: On the eve of the festival three
cannon shots are fired in the village and the church bells ring, at which all residents wear
their fraditional costume (‘foustanella’ for men which is the traditional kilt-type gear and
‘sengouni’ for women, which is a thick woollen overcoaf) and head to the church, where
the elders among them dance the festival dance. They then attend mass, there is a
procession of the icon of Saint George, their patron saint, around the vilage, and the
dance is prolonged along the main street unfil nightfall. On the first day of the festival
there is the uphill racing event, held at the site where the battle with Mustapha Bei took
place on the slope of the mountain, where the elders start running up, followed by the
men and then finally the teenagers of the village. It is a brief representation of the battle
and the prize is a live sheep which is offered by the shepherds of Arachova. On the
second and third days there are sport events held at the courtyard of Saint George’s
church, such as the long jump, triple jump, high jump, wrestling, stone-liffing efc. Residents
roast lamibs on spits on the affernoon of the third day outside Saint George’s church. After
eating and dancing are over, cannon shots are fired, which signal the ‘break-up’ of the
festivities. Everyone dances the traditional festival dance one last time and the crowd
slowly disperses, whilst dancing along the main village street.

Holy Monastery Of Ossios Loukas
Byzantium and Orthodoxy

Situated on the western slopes of Elikonas, under the acropolis of ancient Stirida, lies one
of the most important Byzantine monuments of the Greek world, the Monastery of Ossios
Loukas. Ranked among the best preserved paradigms of art and architecture of the
Middle Byzantine period, the Monastery has been included in UNESCO's World Heritage
List and ifs cultural radiance confinues to attract thousands of visitors from around the



world. The history of the Monastery dates to 946 AD, which is when the incumbent Monk at
the time, who later became known as Ossios Loukas ‘Stiriotis’, chose the specific site to
erect his monastic cell, which essentially constituted the first edifice of the complex.

The healing and the prophetic powers of the monk travelled far and wide and, as a resulf,
apart from atfracting numerous ascetics who arrived at the saint’s cell seeking to become
the followers of the charismatic figure, they also greatfly endeared him to numerous local
officials and rulers. It was the latter, therefore, who donated gifts of large sums of money
and valuable treasures to the Monastery and who contributed towards the construction
of its temples and ancillary buildings, both during the Saint’s lifespan and, predominantly,
following his Dormition in 953 AD.

With the passage of time, the site underwent significant damages. However, the
restoration works that commenced from as early as 1938 have managed to reinstate this
unigue monument, endowing it with the form it retains to this day. The monastic complex
itself consists of two temples, the Catholicon (primary temple), dedicated to Ossios
Loukas, and the smaller church of the Holy Virgin Mary, as well as the Chancel Table, the
vault, the monks’ cells and other ancillary buildings, while the entire complex is enclosed
within a fortification wall which has preserved traces of its watch towers, which served to
guard the monastery against enemy raids. The Church of the Holy Virgin is the oldest,
dating to the second half of the 10th century. Regarding its architectural style, it is a four-
column cross-in-square domed church, thus belonging to the characteristic type of the
Constantinople architectural school of the period. Today only a few sections of the ornate
decorations which used to embellish its interior have been preserved, the most important
of which is the wall mural depicting Jesus Nave before the fall of Jericho. The Catholicon
was built in the early 11th century in order fo house the miraculous holy relics of Ossios
Loukas and which architecturally belongs to the octagonal churches of mainland Greece
type. If you find the exterior of the temple imposing, then it is certain that the luxury of its
interior will stun you. The multi-coloured marble flooring, carved decorations, wonderful
mosaics, as well as its superb wall murals, render the monastery unique and corroborate
the theory that its construction was financed by generous donations from the Emperor.
The vault was built during the same period as the Catholicon of the Monastery and is
dedicated to Saint Barbara. Across the main enfrance is the original grave of Ossios
Loukas, while there are two more graves at the site which possibly belong to abbots of the
Monastery. The alcove is cross-shaped and is also adorned by intricate wall murals which
have been attributed to the same period as the mosaics of the Ossios Loukas Monastery,
namely, they have been dated to roughly the early 11th cenfury. The chamber of the old
Chancel Table currently operates as a museum, following its restoration, housing an
exhibition of marble architectural elements of the Monastery, while the stables, which
have also undergone restoration, host an exhibition of 18th century wall murals that have
been transported from the Monastery of Aghios Spiridonas Medeonos in the region of
Antikyra. Information: 2267022228, www.osiosloukas.gr

Distomo

Place of martyrdom, place of remembrance

Nestling between the bases of Parnassos and Elikonas mountains, on a slope comprising of
six hills ending in a small valley, lies the town of Distomo, built af an altitude of 450 metres.
It is a region rich in natural beauty, which became widely known for another reason. On
June 10th, 1944, two hundred and eighteen innocent inhabitants -including many infants
and small children- were executed by the German occupation forces, while the entire
village was pillaged and subsequently torched and razed to the ground. A monument-
mausoleum has been erected on Kanales hill to commemorate the victims, where events
are held every year fo mark the tragic anniversary, while the Museum of Nazism Victims
also operates in the fown, housed in the premises of the old primary school and exhibiting
photographs of the victims as well as other related archival material and historical records
of the period. Although the massacre has left its indelible mark on Distomo, it would
constifute an omission not to briefly mention the earlier history of the region. The site of the
presenf-day fown has been identified with that of ancient Amvrossos, regarding which the
traveller Pausanias cites that it was a flourishing fown with a double fortification wall and
abundant vineyards which produced excellent wine. Amvrossos, however, was also
known for ifs crocus flowers, a type of bush which grew in the area and which the



inhabitants would process info a light-coloured dye. A number of excavation findings
have been preserved from the period of ancient Amvrossos which, just like the greater
part of ancient Phoecis, was destroyed during the Holy Wars, and are currently exhibited
at the Distomo Archaeological Museum, together with other collections from outlying
regions. During the Byzantine period, during which the name of the town was changed
from Amvrossos fo Distomo, most probably after the wells with two outlets (the Greek word
for outlet is ‘stomio’) which catered to the settlement’s water supplies. At a later period,
during the 1821 War of Independence, the contribution of Distomo fo the uprising of the
Greeks and the resistance put up by its inhabitants are deemed to have been especially
significant. It was the site of numerous battles between Greeks and Turks, of which the
most known and of seminal

importance to the final outcome of the Struggle was the battle of Distomo (1827). Disfomo
currently constitutes a modern city offering all requisite amenities. It exhibits a lively.

Amfissa Archaeological Museum

The Amfissa Archaeological Museum is housed in the historical building, where the I1st
Nafional Assembly of East Mainland Greece was held in November 1821. Its collection
includes findings dating fo the Bronze Age and originating both in Amfissa as well as from
the entire Prefecture of Phoecis. The artefacts excavated in Kirra and the celebrafted
statue of Persephone, standing on its ancient pedestal, dominate its ground-floor hall. In
the large hall of the upper floor, you will be introduced to the findings from the “prominent
and most renowned” town of Amfissa, according to Pausanias, learning interesting
information on the public and private lives of its ancient inhabitants, while you will also
have the opportunity to visit the ancient coins exhibition on display in the smaller hall.
Finally, you will have the chance to appreciate the mosaics of Early-Christian edifices in
the covered sections of the garden enclosing the building. Tel: 2265023344, open daily
8:30 - 14:30.
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It was founded by the Phoecian Studies Society and is housed in a two-storey neoclassical
building belonging to Panagiofis Litras. Its folk art collection ranks among the foremost of
its kind in the country, as it includes artefacts dating from as early as the first years of
Oftoman rule. Most of the exhibits are directly related to the trades which flourished in the
past and have almost fallen into extinction today, such as those of the tanner, bell-maker
and rope-maker. Tel: 2265028175.

Phoecis Mining Park - Vagonetto

Like latter-day miners...

At the Giona-Parnassos inferchange, specifically at the 51st km of the Lamia-Amfissa
Nafional Road, you will encounter a pleasant surprise! Adjacent to the premises of the
operational mines, the company S&B Industrial Minerals S.A. has created a thematic park
dedicated to the history of extraction of Greek bauxite and to the historical development
of the fown, which is inextricably linked to bauxite-ore mining. The Phoecis Mining Park or
‘Vagonetto' as it is called, is one of the few such thematic parks in Europe and unique in
Greece. It is guaranteed to impress you, as it is not just another museum or run-of-the-mill
exhibition, but embarks you on a magical journey through fime and, in fact, info the
depths of the earth, tracing the footsteps of thousands of miners who worked extracting
the precious bauxite ore. Your four begins in the old mines, at subterranean Shaft 850 (the
shaft was opened in 1967 and operated through to 1972), which has been preserved
exactly as it was during ifs period of operation. After wearing the special safety helmets
and water-proof anoraks (due to the humidity), you board the mine wagon, which is an
authentic wagon used to tfransport the mine workers half a cenfury ago and, affer
traversing about half a kilometre, you reach the heart of the mine, 200 metres below the
surface of the earth. With the aid of suitable audiovisual means and with the starkly
realistic wax figures depicting the mine workers at their posts, you will feel that you have
experienced first-hand a typical working day in the bauxite-extraction industry of the time.
Through the modern electronic multimedia guides (featuring tours in 6 languages), you
can walk through the mining shaft and learn about all stages of the bauxite extraction
process, following which and about three-quarters of an hour later the mining wagon will
fransport you back to the surface of the earth. Having undergone your initiation, you can



now return to the Mining History exhibition area, where you can learn addifional
information regarding bauxite. In fact, the exhibition has been displayed in specially
arranged halls, and its organization clearly presents the overall bauxite extraction process,
all the way from the inifial discovery of the ore untfil its final processing, from which alumina
is produced. Moreover, the Interactive Wing is also open as of this year, with three
exhibition halls. Entertacinment and education blend harmoniously with the aid of digital
technology, offering you but predominantly your children the opportunity fo experience a
multidimensional experience according to the ‘learn and play’ philosophy.

Information: www.vagonetto.gr, tel: 2265078819, 2265028826

Eptalofos (Agoriani)

Nature at its best

Amphitheatrically built atop seven hills (hence its name, which means seven hills in Greek)
on the north-western slopes of Parnassos, at an altitude of about 900 metres, lies the
village of Eptalofos. Just as beautiful but less cosmopolitan compared to Arachova which
is 22 kilometres away, Eptalofos has recently established itself as a favourite alternative for
those visitors who love mountain tourism and winter sports, yet prefer a more authentic
and calm communion with nature. The former name of the vilage was Agoriani and
locals seem fo prefer it down to the present, since they continue to refer to their vilage by
that name and not as Eptalofos, which is its official denomination. Thus, by ifs new name
which was officially attributed to it in 1927, Eptalofos currently constitutes a municipal
department of the Municipality of Parnassos and has a population of about 670 residents.
Certain descendants of the historical Comnenos Family of Trebizond are mentioned as the
first inhabitants of the village, yet there is no clear information as to how the famed
Byzantines ended up here. Later, during the 1821 Revolution, Agoriani provided
celebrated fighters and military commanders (Komnas, Theodorou and Trakas) and, just
like the entire region of Phoecis, decisively contributed to the uprising and liberation of the
Greeks, frequently paying for its bravery and passionate

quest for freedom in blood and with captivity. On October 8th, 1943, the entire village was
razed by the German occupation troops in retaliation for the aid proffered by its
inhabitants fo U.S. allies. Upon arriving at Eptalofos, either via Arachova or Amfiklia, the
image that will greet will almost certainly astound you. Literally buried under the fir trees,
with the waters of its famous springs fraversing the entire village and, naturally, with the
background of the imposing Parnassos, it brings to mind the picture we nearly all have of
the idyllic mountain village retreat, so more or less reminiscent of the Alps, but in a Greek
version. The abundant and refreshing waters of Agioranitis River, which is a fributary of
Kifissos River and the springs of which are situated here, constitute a landmark of
Eptalofos. Agioranifis flows through the village, periodically forming small waterfalls, the
most well-known and easily accessible among which is located 100 metres above the
main square. Moreover, if you follow the path that begins slightly before the entrance to
the village you can reach the Matesi waterfall, one of the tallest in the country, exceeding
60 metres in height. The waters of Agorianitis are famed for one more, rather peculiar,
reason: they are believed fo aid digestion. Especially for the waters of the ‘Vassiliki’
fountain, the locals boast that you arrive there full and leave hungry... Some of the most
beautiful hiking and mountaineering routes of Parnassos either begin or pass through
Eptalofos. Whether you are seasoned climbers or just want to hike through the lush-green
slopes of the mountain and marvel at its natural landscape, there are special signs at the
main village square pointing you to the various paths on offer. The hiking route which
forms part of the European E4 Trail naturally stands out among the rest. It will lead you o
Delphi, following a 7-hour trek. The picturesque village square with its immense plane trees
definitively constitutes the heart of the village, gathering its residents and visitors fo its
‘tavernas’ and coffee shops. Here, in addition to the local meats, which after all occupy a
dominant position throughout the Parnassos region, you can also try flavoursome pies with
crunchy phyllo pastry, delectable cheeses and other traditional dishes of the cuisine of
Roumeli. As for its sweefts, it is mainly known for its candied fruit, which are principally
produced from the fruit grown in its local orchards, such as chestnut, walnut, cherry and
apple. Itis also worth seeking out the famous Effastomos (meaning seven openings) cave,
which is at a short disfance from the settlement. Seven large openings -which are visible
on the surface of the earth- unite and culminate in a single unique geological monument.



Deep down in the furthest depths of the cave, where it is said that the Germans hurled
capftives during the period of Nazi Occupation, one of the most southern glaciers in
Europe has existed over millions of years.



